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Notice of AGM
Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of Waterford Credit 
Union Limited for the financial year ended 30 September 2021 will take place virtually 
on Thursday 24th February 2022 at 7.30pm. As Covid-19 is still present in our 
community, we made this decision in the interest of health and safety. 

To deliver the AGM remotely, Waterford Credit Union will use ‘Zoom’. You will need an 
internet connection to access the meeting on your PC, laptop or mobile phone. 

While the AGM will follow the usual format, the focus this year will be on the essential 
business of the credit union, namely the presentation of the financial statements, the 
auditors’ report and the election of Board members, Board Oversight Committee members 
and the auditor. All other reports will be taken as read for expediency. Reports and minutes 
will be forwarded to AGM attendees in advance of the meeting. Members must register in 
advance to attend the AGM. 

Members wishing to attend the Virtual AGM need to apply via email to agm@waterfordcu.ie 
and include the following information on your email: 

u Name 
u Member Account Number
u Member address 

The request for attendance must be received by close of business on Monday 21st February 2022.

You will be sent a registration link. Once registered you will receive an email with a unique 
link to the AGM, do not share this with others as we must be able to identify you to establish 
a quorum. Every individual should register for their own link. Only members who attend the 
AGM will have their votes counted. 

All non-presenting participants will be muted and have their cameras switched off to allow 
for the smooth running of the meeting. However, you can type a question to the host by 
clicking the Q&A button on the screen. 

Where possible, if you would like to raise a question at the AGM, your questions may 
require supporting documentation and/or further research by way of a reply, so we ask that 
you email agm@waterfordcu.ie with any questions by Close of Business on Wednesday 
23rd February 2022.

Elections for the position of (4) Board of Directors and (1) Board Oversight Committee will 
take place. Voting will be conducted by way of Online Poll and members will be asked to 
vote electronically for the resolution or for each candidate when instructed. 

Votes will be tallied electronically, verified and recorded. 

The virtual AGM will be recorded. 

Standing Orders
1. VOTING
Each member shall be entitled to one vote 
irrespective of his / her shareholding, in 
accordance with section 82(2) of the Credit Union 
Act, 1997 (as amended). 

2. ELECTION PROCEDURE 
Elections to the Board of Directors and to the 
Board Oversight Committee shall be by majority 
vote and by secret ballot. Due to the fact that 
this year’s AGM will be a virtual meeting, voting 
on motions and elections will be by electronic 
means. Instructions for voting electronically will 
be issued to all members who register to attend 
the AGM. Members must attend the virtual AGM 
for their votes to be counted. The results will 
be reviewed and verified and announced by the 
chairperson. 

3. MOTIONS 
Due to the ongoing specific difficulties we are 
facing in holding an Annual General Meeting this 
year due to COVID-19, the purpose of this year’s 
AGM is to deal with the essential business of the 
credit union. This includes reporting to members 
on the financial status of the credit union and to 
elect officers. While all items in the usual Order 
of Business will be referenced, there will be 
less interaction than in person. Any non-urgent 
matters will be dealt with at next year’s AGM. 
As such there will be no motions from the floor 
due to the difficulties in managing same remotely. 
Members will be welcome to submit questions to 
the board in advance of the AGM and the Board 
will address these, in so far as possible, during the 
meeting. These questions will be included in the 
minutes of the AGM. 

4-9. MISCELLANEOUS 
4. The Chairperson of the credit union shall be 
the Chairperson of any general meeting, except 
where he/she is not available, in which case it 
shall be the Vice-Chair, except where he/she is 
not available, in which case the Board shall decide 
amongst themselves who shall act as Chair of any 
meeting. 

5. The Chairperson may at his/her discretion, 
extend the privilege of the floor to any person 
who is not a member. 

6. Matters not covered by the agenda may 
be introduced under ‘Other Business’ at the 
discretion of the Chairperson. At a virtual AGM 

in the current circumstances, this may not be 
practical, however, the option may be invoked if 
required.

7. The Chairperson’s decision on any matter 
relating to these standing orders or interpretation 
of same will be final. In accordance with Section 
82(2) no member shall have more than one 
vote on each question at any general meeting 
of the credit union or any adjournment thereof, 
irrespective of his/her shareholding or the 
number of accounts in his/ her name in the credit 
union, provided however, that except in voting 
at elections, the presiding member shall have a 
second or casting vote in the event of equality 
of voting.

8. Any matter to be decided upon by vote at the 
AGM shall, unless otherwise expressly provided 
for by law or the rules, will be decided upon by 
simple majority. 

9. The virtual AGM will be recorded. 

10. ADJOURNMENTS
 
Adjournments of the AGM shall take place only in 
accordance with section 81(1) and the provisions 
concerning notice, voting and quorum are also 
set out in section 81 and the new section 80A 
inserted by the Finance (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Bill 2020. 

11-15 VIRTUAL MEETING ITEMS 
11. All non-presenting participants will be muted 
and have their cameras switched off to allow the 
smooth running of the meeting. 

12. All members are reminded to conduct 
themselves in a professional manner. Please 
refrain from sharing any explicit, violent or 
inappropriate content. 

13. All members are requested to show respect 
when they are asking or replying to questions 
during the meeting. This includes tone and 
content of the words used. 

14. All members are asked to keep their mobile 
phone silent. The vibrate setting can cause 
disruptions. 

15. The Annual General Meeting will be recorded.
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Amendments to Standard Rules
Affiliation Fee 
That the affiliation fee to the Irish League of Credit Unions (ILCU) for the year ended 30th 
September 2021 will be €1.00 per adult member, to be deducted from members’ shares. 

Motion 1 
That this Annual General Meeting agrees to delete Rule 63(4) of the Standard Rules for 
Credit Unions (Republic of Ireland) (2019) to remove the requirement for credit unions to 
complete and return the Return of Officers form to the Irish League of Credit Unions.

1 weekly/monthly
repayment

More control
over your 
finances

Consolidating debt
often saves
you money

Deal with one
loan provider

Debt cleared
in a set amount

of time

Apply today!
 051-861616  |   loans@waterfordcu.ie  |   waterfordcu.ie/loans 

Parnell Street    |    Upper Grange    |    Tramore

Waterford Credit Union Limited is regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland. Each loan is subject to individual assessment. If you do not meet the 
repayments on your loan, your account will go into arrears. This may a�ect your credit rating. Variable rate of 9.99% (APR 10.45%). T&C’s apply.

FUSION LOAN
Simplify Life with our

SAVE MONEY with a CONSOLIDATION LOAN
from Waterford Credit Union. 
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Order of Business
a.  The acceptance by the board of directors of the authorised representatives of 

members that are not natural persons; 
b.  Ascertainment that a quorum is present; 
c.  Adoption of Standing Orders; 
d.  Approval of the minutes of the last Annual General Meeting; 
e.  Report of the Board of Directors; 
f.  Consideration of Accounts; 
g.  Report of the Auditor; 
h.  Report of the Board Oversight Committee; 
i.  Notice of motions/rule amendments; 
j.  Report of the Credit Committee; 
k.  Report of the Credit Control Committee; 
l.  Report of the Investment Committee; 
m.  Report of the Nomination Committee; 
n.  Election of Auditor; 
o.  Election to fill vacancy on the Board Oversight Committee; 
p.  Election to fill vacancies on the Board of Directors; 
q.  Report of the Promotion & Education Committee; 
r.  Report of the Membership Committee; 
s.  Any other business; 
t.  Announcement of election results; 
u.  Close of meeting

Chairperson’s Address
Fellow Waterford Credit Union members,

I am delighted to present the annual report and audited accounts for Waterford Credit 
Union for the financial year ended 30 September 2021. Once again this has proved to be 
another very challenging year and despite all the difficulties which Covid has brought I am 
very pleased with the way the members and staff of Waterford Credit Union have worked 
together to ensure our business continues to thrive and prosper. I wish in particular to thank 
our CEO Melanie Cleary and all our dedicated staff who continue to present such a positive 
and cheerful environment to all our members.

I would also like to thank my fellow directors and all volunteers who continue to work and 
give their time and expertise to ensure the successful progress of the credit union. 

Again, this year we have continued our meetings with a mixture of online and physical 
meetings when rules allow. Despite progress in the online area, it still remains a slower 
and more frustrating option and the preference of all is to return to physical meetings 
as soon as possible. On that note I wish to thank all those who continue to do business 
with us online. This is a growing area and one in which we continue to invest time and 
resources. We intend to open our new member services centre early in 2022 and this will 
allow members to have access to our full range of services online.

I am delighted to report that once again and in spite of all the difficulties which Covid 
has caused, Waterford Credit Union has achieved a surplus of €2,106,738, which is an 
increase of €1,593,198 on last year. The surplus for 2021 includes a non-recurring gain of 
€1,250,000. Our members borrowed €20,264,894 in the past year and once again I note 
the very small number of loans going into arrears. Our staff are very diligent and thorough 
in appraising loan applications and as always, we encourage members who have problems 
with loans going into arrears to engage with us at the earliest opportunity. 

During the year we introduced a share cap on members deposits as we saw a huge increase 
in savings which had an adverse effect on our business as we had to maintain our reserve 
funding of 10%. The very low levels and in some cases negative rates for money on deposit 
continues and will prove challenging for the foreseeable future. I would like to thank all 
members who withdrew shares down to our new limit of €15,000 which was a great help 
to our financial situation.

The outlook for 2022 is no less challenging than 2021 and the ongoing issues with Covid 
appear to be here for the foreseeable future. However, it is heartening to see how our 
members have adapted to the new normal and I would once again encourage members to 
spend locally and support local businesses. Money which is spent in the local economy has 
a much greater impact than just the amount spent. It supports business and employment in 
the area and it helps other businesses to grow and create more employment locally.

Members! 
Please ensure your Next of Kin has

recently been updated.
Talk to a member of staff today!

Members! 
View your Account Balances 

& Statement 
by registering online at 

waterfordcu.ie
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I would like to thank all our members for their continued support for our credit union. I 
extend my sympathies to family and friends of members who have suffered bereavement 
during the year. We look forward to the coming year and Waterford Credit Union. will 
always be there for you along the way.

I have reached the end of my term as Chair of Waterford Credit Union. I have been 
honoured to work with so many great people over the past four years and I really enjoyed 
the challenge. It was a privilege to serve and I would encourage people to get involved 
and give some time to the local community. The skills required are many and varied and 
everyone has something to offer. If you are approached to get involved, please give it 
consideration. We welcome volunteers at any time.

Thanks again and keep safe.

John J Phelan
President
Waterford Credit Union

 

Updated Legislation
The Criminal Justice (Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing) Act, 2010, Criminal 
Justice (Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing) (Amendment) Act 2013 

To comply with the above legislation imposed by the Central Bank of Ireland we may have 
to ask you some extra questions at the counter. For members who don’t transact in the 
branch, i.e. (electronically) we may contact you by letter or e-mail to ask you to update your 
ID and Proof of address to comply with this legislation. 

CDD-Customer Due Diligence - we are required to update and verify your photo ID and 
proof of address. Address verification is required every 3 years. 

Source of Funds - for transactions over a certain amount, you may be asked to provide the 
source of the funds. We may also need to update your contact details and to discuss the 
best way to contact you if the need arises. 

1. Photo Identification: 
•  Current Valid Passport 
•  Current Valid Driving Licence 
•  Birth Certificate (under 16 only) 
• Age Card 
• Garda National Immigration Bureau (GNIB) 

2. Proof of Address (dated within 3 months) 
•  Original Recent Household Utility Bill, e.g. Electricity/Gas 
•  Document from Revenue Commissioners e.g. LPT Local Property Tax/PAYE 

Notice or other   Government Departments correspondence 
•  Original Recent Bank/Building Society Statement 
•  Document from Local Authority 

3. Proof of PPS No. (examples of documents or cards that contain your PPS no. 
include): 
•  Pension Book 
•  Drugs Payment Scheme Card 
•  Medical Card 
•  GP visit card 
•  European Health Insurance Card 
•  P60 / P45 
•  Payslip 
•  Correspondence from Revenue / Dpt. Social Protection

Chairperson’s Address continued
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From time to time, Waterford Credit Union
would like to notify you of products, services,
competitions and or promotional offers
available from the Credit Union and
carefully selected third parties.
We may post marketing material electronically or communicate by 
email, text, fax or phone about such products, services, 
competitions and or promotional offers. Please note we will never 
give your details to a third party for marketing purposes. If you would 
prefer that we didn’t contact you regarding any of the above, please 
email us at info@waterfordcu.ie stating that you wish to opt-out of 
promotional correspondences going forward.

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The Credit Union Acts 1997 as amended require the directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the State of Affairs of 
the Credit Union and the Income and Expenditure Account of the Credit Union for that 
period.  In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 

to presume that the Credit Union will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Credit Union and to enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with applicable 
Irish law and Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland, including the standards 
issued by the Financial Reporting Council, and in particular FRS 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”.  They are responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the Credit Union and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and 
financial information included on the credit union’s website. Legislation in Ireland governing 
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

On behalf of the Board of Directors    

John Phelan, Chair of the Board of Directors 

Catriona McElhinney, Secretary
   
Date: 8th February 2022

From time to time, Waterford Credit Union 
would like to notify you of products, services, 
competitions and promotional offers available 
from the Credit Union.

We may send marketing material electronically or communicate by 
email, text or phone about such products, services, competitions and 
or promotional offers. Please note we will never give your details to a 
third party for marketing purposes. If you would prefer that we didn’t 
contact you regarding any of the above, please email us at comms@
waterfordcu.ie stating that you wish to opt-out of promotional 
correspondences going forward.
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Board Oversight Committee Report Credit Committee Report
Statement of Board Oversight Committee’s 
Responsibilities
The Credit Union Acts 1997 as amended require the appointment of a Board Oversight 
Committee to assess whether the Board of Directors has operated in accordance with Part 
IV, Part IV(a) and any regulations made for the purposes of Part IV or Part IV(a) of the Credit 
Union Acts 1997 as amended and any other matter prescribed by the Central Bank in 
respect of which they are to have regard in relation to the Board.

Board Oversight Committee Report to the AGM:
The Board Oversight Committee (BOC) is an independent committee elected by the 
members at the AGM to oversee the operation of Waterford Credit Union. The members 
of the Oversight Committee are Vincent Flynn, Melwyn Godinho and Kieran Millar.

Its specific remit is to ensure that the Board of Directors operates in accordance with the 
governance regulations as per the amended Credit Union Act 2012.

In discharging its duties during 2021, the BOC reviewed the work of the Board, attended all 
Board Meetings and a selection of Committee Meetings. In addition, the BOC held quarterly 
meetings with the Board where a number of issues were raised concerning the impact of 
regulation and legislation on the Credit Union. The BOC is satisfied that all matters raised 
with the Board were dealt with efficiently and that the Board is operating in accordance 
with Part IV, Part IVA and all regulations made for the purposes of Part IV or Part IVA of the 
Credit Union Act, 1997 (as amended). The BOC also met monthly, as required by the Act.

The Committee wishes to acknowledge the commitment of all the directors to the Credit 
Union in what is an increasingly complex financial environment. 

In addition, the BOC would like to thank the C.E.O. Melanie Cleary and her staff for their 
assistance and courtesy throughout the year.

Approved on behalf of the Board Oversight Committee

Kieran Millar, Chair of the Board Oversight Committee

Date: 8th February 2022

The Credit Committee oversees the implementation of Waterford Credit Union’s approved 
credit/lending policy and reports on lending activity to the Board of Directors on a monthly 
basis.  We always endeavour to be compliant with the Credit Union Acts, WCU’s Credit 
Policy & Procedures and any guidance issued by the Central Bank of Ireland. 

As an ‘essential service’, we have worked hard to support members in the local community 
and have remained open throughout the pandemic. Our main focus in 2021 was to support 
the economic recovery through increasing lending, including mortgage and SME lending, 
to our community.  This was done in a prudent manner whilst continuing to improve on an 
already robust underwriting process. 

In the 2021 financial year 4,129 loans were issued to members to a value of €20,264,894. 
This represents an increase of 2% in value year on year and a decrease of 7% in the number 
of loans issued. 

The average loan size for 2021 was €4,908 which has increased from €4,457 in 2020. 
 

The member’s complete financial circumstances are taken into account before a decision 
is made with respect to any loan application. Affordability and Repayment Capacity to 
repay the loan are key measures to assist in underwriting.  In addition to this we consider 
the member’s savings and loan repayment history with WCU and the member’s savings are 
used as security for the loan. 

As much as possible, members are urged to submit as much relevant information and 
documentation at application stage.  This will allow us to make clear informed credit 
decisions that are in the best interests of our members and provide the best member 
experience possible.  

Our online/phone a loan service enables members to apply online or over the phone 
without having to come into the branch to submit an application.  This has proven very 
useful to our members during the pandemic.

In conclusion the committee would like to thank the staff for their continued support 
throughout the year.

Committee: Liam Doyle (Chair), Robert Grace & Siobhán Dunphy.  

Date: 8th February 2022
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Credit Control Committee Report Credit Control Committee Report continued
The Credit Control Committee are tasked with:

u Acting in accordance with the Credit Union Act / Legislation and Policy to ensure all 
steps necessary are taken to ensure monies borrowed/lent are repaid in accordance 
with Members’ Agreements. 

u Reviewing at least on an annual basis the Credit Control Policy
u Reviewing the monthly Credit Control Reports and quarterly Write Off Lists
u Liaising with the Credit Control Liaising Officer
u Bringing recommendations to the Board where appropriate.

The committee met virtually via Skype / Zoom in the year under review and acted in 
accordance with their responsibilities. 

Waterford Credit Union recognises that this year has been a difficult one for everyone, 
however, despite Covid 19, it was a very positive year for Credit Control.  

We have also continued in our pursuit of loans in arrears by:

u continuing to reduce the 10+ weeks in arrears figure;
u continuing to reduce our Bad Debt Provision figure; and
u significantly increasing our Bad Debt Recovery figure

As at the 30th of September 2021, our Credit Control figures were as follows:

u 10+ weeks arrears bracket - €5.79m
u Bad Debt Provision - €6.56m
u Bad Debt Recovery on written off loans - €0.80m

These figures reflect the hard work and commitment of your Credit Union in the recovery 
of loans in arrears. We will continue to make stringent efforts to ensure that all monies 
are repaid in full. Where considered necessary, Credit Control will engage in the services 
of a Debt Collection Agency and/or Solicitors to ensure all avenues are exhausted in the 
recovery of the debt.   These measures whilst seemingly harsh are the steps laid out for us 
in legislation.

Also, where members fail to repay their loans, it is now mandatory to report the arrears to 
both the Irish Credit Bureau (ICB) and the Central Credit Register (CCR) – this requirement 
changed to the CCR only during the review year.  This will affect a member’s Credit Rating 
and ability to borrow from both Waterford Credit Union and other Financial Institutions. In 
the year under review, we have seen some members return and repay their outstanding 
indebtedness as a direct result of the Register(s).   It is vital that Members be aware that 
the history of arrears will remain on their records for five years after the loan is cleared in 
full.  Again, this is a mandatory requirement and it is in each member’s own hands and best 
interests to ensure they do not appear on credit risk lists.  

For those members who are in difficulty, we also offer F.A.S.T (Financial Advice Service
Team) which is a free confidential service for WCU members. F.A.S.T. offers professional
independent advice on personal finance issues. Members who are experiencing financial
difficulties can contact the F.A.S.T team and will be supported and educated about the
core principals of budgeting. 

For any member who is currently not engaging, it’s not too late to make contact, so please 
do and we will assist you in any way we can.

The Credit Control Committee would like to thank the Credit Control Liaising Officer for 
their work during the year.

Committee: Pat Breslin, Paul Duggan, Catriona McElhinney, 
Tim O’Byrne and Linda O’Kane.

Date: 8th February 2022
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Investment Committee Report Investment Committee Report continued
The Investment income at €1,035k (€971k 2020) generated from the investment portfolio 
accounted for 17% (20% for 2020) of the total annual income and represented a return 
on investment of 0.75% (0.74% for 2020). The investment portfolio totals €135m as at 
30th September 2021 (€137m in 2020). This return was a commendable return in light of 
negative interest rates operating throughout the banking industry.

A breakdown of the Investment Type included in Waterford Credit Union’s portfolio can be 
seen in figure 1;

 
Waterford Credit Union has a diverse range of counterparties. A pie chart of the percentages 
invested in the different counterparties can be seen in figure 2       
 

Deposit
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1%
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1%

Investment Portfolio by Counterparties

The Credit Union, as required under its statutory obligations continues to place €1.619m 
with the Central Bank as a Minimum Reserve requirement. In addition, because of the lack 
of investing opportunities your Credit Union holds further amounts with the Central Bank 
at 0% and negative 0.5% rates.

The Investment Committee of Waterford Credit Union obtained independent investment 
advice from Cantor Fitzgerald during 2021 (Goodbody Stockbrokers last year) to assist in 
decision making, prudent risk assessment and to ensure that Member’s funds are invested 
in an appropriate manner.

The Credit Union remains committed to maintaining a conservative approach in its 
investment policy, always being mindful of its statutory obligations, the guidelines issued 
by the regulatory authorities and consistent with effective treasury management of the 
funding base provided by the Members.

The Investment Committee would once again like to thank Trevor Doheny for his 
considerable contribution during the year. 

Committee: Frank Moriarty, Cormac O’Keeffe, Tim O’Byrne & Trevor Doheny

Date: 8th February 2022
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Membership Committee ReportFinancial Report on Year 2021
Waterford Credit Union has continued to welcome new members with a total of 1,358 new 
accounts opened in 2021.  The majority of new members have been by recommendation 
from family and friends. Our membership now stands at 33,637 which is an increase of 
15.85% on last year’s membership. Member’s now have the option to join using our online 
portal and 527 or 38.8% of new members joining used this option.   There are 7,100 of the 
accounts denoted as dormant accounts.  We closed 832 accounts which includes unused 
and deceased accounts. 

 
Figure: Membership by Gender and age range as a percentage of the total membership.

All our new member applications are checked to ensure that they comply with the Criminal 
Justice Act. Each application is accompanied by photo identification, proof of address and 
proof of PPS number. All applicants must reside within the common bond of the Credit 
Union or qualify for membership if they are a member of the same household as, or is 
a member of the family of, another person who is a member of the Credit Union.  New 
members are provided with a booklet to advise them on all of the benefits and services 
offered by Waterford Credit Union. New members can come into our branches or use the 
on-line web application form to join.

In addition to our current service, we are now offering the new Current Account and 
Mastercard contactless debit card. This new debit card can be used for online or point of 
sale purchases in Ireland and worldwide. An overdraft facility of up to €5000 will also be 
available subject to credit assessment. Members 16yrs or older are eligible to apply for the 
debit card but the overdraft facility is only available to 18yrs and older.

1. Referring to page 32 of the Accounts for the year ending 30th September, Interest 
Income on loans for the year ending 30th September 2021 was up 0.5%% at €3,804k as 
against €3,786k for 2020.  Investment income rose 6.6% going from €971k in 2020 to 
€1,035k for year 2021. These two income streams are the life blood of all Credit Unions, 
and we are happy that both had increases despite the negative interest rate environment 
for investments during the year.  WCU had a once off but very helpful income of €1.25m 
in relation to outstanding legal claims which has helped to raise our Regulatory reserves 
from 10.24% to 10.92%. Total expenditure for the period was down 6% from savings 
in Salaries costs (down 4.4% and staff numbers dropping from an average of 60 to 
50) while Operating expenses were down 4.7%. These reductions were partly offset 
by an 9.6% increase in Savings and Loan Insurance costs. The combination of higher 
income and lower expenses led to a Surplus of €2,107k as against a surplus of €513k 
in the previous year and assisted greatly in adding to your Credit Union’s reserves. Our 
Regulatory reserve is still well below the average of the Irish Credit Union movement 
in Ireland but is now safely above the 10% level that the Central Bank requires as a 
minimum level. The outcome for the year represents a very encouraging result in the 
light of declining interest rates that is continuing to affect our Investment Income.  

2. Our total Assets in the Balance Sheet has remained like last year at €185m which 
came about from a drop of €1.7m in Deposits and Investments offset partly by a very 
welcome increase of €1.5m in lending to members. On the liabilities side member 
shares dropped by €0.94m together with a decline of €1.03m in member deposits. Our 
regulatory reserves have increased due to the surplus achieved but does not allow for 
any dividend payment on members shares yet.

3. As is common with all financial entities the current interest rate returns from our 
Investment Income is affected by the unusual Deposit Interest rates available for our 
surplus funds and indeed certain short-term rates are on negative interest rates. This 
points to the need for more lending for our surplus funds rather than being placed at 
those negative rates with other financial institutions. Our investment portfolio has had 
return of 0.75% for the year versus 0.74% for the previous year and is well in line with 
the average of the Credit Union movement in Ireland. This good return in a negative 
interest rate environment arises because over 60% of our investments are invested right 
out to 2031. There is a possibility that the European Central Bank will raise interest rates 
to counteract current inflation rates of over 5% in the EEC while the US are proposing 4 
interest rate hikes during 2022. The British have already raised their base rates so it will 
be interesting to see when the European Central Bank will follow suit.

4. During the year your Credit Union limited the amounts held by individuals in shares and 
deposits to €15k as have most other Credit Unions. This is partly due to the negative 
interest rates currently available in the financial markets for any surplus funds not finding 
a home in lending but also assists our Regulatory Reserves percentage as covered 
previously. When and if interest rates increase this level can be revisited and hopefully 
increased.

5. The Transfer of Engagement with Tramore has now been bedded down and all branches 
are operating well and is a credit to the Management and Staff employed in all areas of 
your Credit Union and we can look forward to another surplus for year 2022.  

Frank Moriarty (Finance Liaison)

Date: 8th February 2022
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Membership Committee Report continued
Members are asked to nominate someone so that in the event of their death, his/her 
savings will be distributed in accordance with their nomination. Savings (up to a max of 
€23,000) in a Credit Union can be subject to a nomination. 

Upon reaching the age of 16yrs members should call into the office to update their account 
with their signature, photo ID and they should nominate a person by completing a form in 
the office. 

We would like to extend a very warm welcome all our new members and look forward to 
being of service to them in the future. 

Committee: Paul O’Keeffe, Jim Boland, Caroline Kelly, Ciara O Kane, 
Michelle O’Regan & Karen Doolan.

Date: 8th February 2022

Nomination Committee Report
The Nomination Committee duly report as follows:

During the year no Directors resigned. No new Directors were co-opted by the Board.

The committee satisfied itself that all Board members and staff are compliant with the 
fitness and probity requirements of the Finance Act 2012 and relevant regulations.

There are 4 current Board members and 1 current member of the Board Oversight 
Committee due for election for the year ending 30th September 2021. Each of the 
candidates nominated must meet the fitness and probity requirements for directors set out 
in the ‘Notice of Elections’.

The Nomination Committee have confirmed that all remaining Board members not due for 
re-election continue to be eligible and are able to serve as directors for the coming year.

Committee: Garrett Wyse, Catriona Mc Elhinney, Frank Moriarty

Date: 8th February 2022
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Promotion & Education Committee Report
This Promotion and Education report below gives you the member a synopsis of the 
work of our committee during the year. Our committee concentrates and aims to support 
community-based volunteer led initiatives. 

2020 – 2021 saw your Credit Union respond to a smaller than usual number of requests 
for sponsorship and donations due to the ongoing worldwide pandemic.   As you would 
expect being a people centred organisation, many of the sponsorships we would normally 
support were either postponed or cancelled. However, wherever possible and when we did 
receive requests your Credit Union endeavored to support them.

In addition, the committee organizes the monthly Car Draw. We are happy to advise that all 
draws took place during the year and were supervised by our Solicitors and held in-house 
– however, in line with Government / HSE Guidelines and for the sake of member safety 
members were not asked to participate physically. All draws were held in accordance with 
the Terms and Conditions of the Draw. 

Your Credit Union also has a Marketing Committee which concentrates on the services and 
products available to you the member and these will be reported separately. 

Car Draw

2020 – 2021 saw 15 cars and 36 shopping vouchers drawn monthly. Additionally, the extra 
Christmas vouchers and year-end extravaganza draws saw members of the car draw win 
further prizes to a total value of €50,000 in our self-financing draw. Again, this year, your Car 
Draw has been audited. We are happy to report that Waterford Credit Union is compliant 
with all recommendations with regard to the draw and received a clean bill of health. As 
previously advised, we have put in place a number of additional measures to safeguard 
you and the Credit Union going forward including an independent external supervisor of 
the draws. This measure continues.  Dates for the draws are available on our website www.
waterfordcu.ie or from any of our three offices at Panell Street, Upper Grange or Summerhill, 
Tramore.  As always, our thanks go to suppliers, photographer, staff and congratulations to 
all winners for their support and courtesies. 

Athlete of the Year Award

As we all know only too well, due to Covid 19, many sporting fixtures and events were 
cancelled during the year under review and so for this reason we did not have any Athlete 
Awards for 2021 ; however, we have taken the opportunity to look at the guidelines and 
refine and re-engage with Clubs and are pleased to advise that at time of writing we will be 
recommencing this initiative in 2022. 

John Hume Scholarship

The 2020 John Hume Scholarship winner is Christina Roche. We congratulate Christina in 
her win and also congratulate our 3rd and 4th year recipients Caroline Moriarty and Dean 
O’Mahony on their continued accomplishments at WIT. 

Promotion & Education Committee Report
continued
The Scholarship recipient is chosen on a broad spectrum of areas; 3rd level college 
integration, community involvement and interview.    This year’s award saw an increased 
number of applications and although there was only one John Hume Scholarship winner, we 
wish all the applicants every success with their careers.

Other Sponsorships / Donations

As previously advised due to Covid 19 requests during the year for sponsorships and 
donations were down on previous years. Listed below are some of the organisations 
benefiting from sponsorship / donations: 

u Dunmore East 2nd Port East Sea Scouts   
u Waterford Marine Search & Rescue
u Long Handicap Waterford Golf Club
u Waterford City River Rescue
u Ballybeg Down Syndrome Committee for sponsorship of the 2022 Calendar
u Under 18’s & 20’s Irish Basketball Team
u Lions Club – “Trees for Life” project in association with Waterford City Council and 

WIT Forestry Department for local primary & secondary schools
u Sonny’s Summer Camp
u Muscular Dystrophy (Waterford branch)

Thank you to all who have contributed both within the Credit Union and externally to our 
activities during the year.

Committee: Robert Grace, Mary Leamy Power, Tim O’Byrne, Linda O’Kane

Date: 8th February 2022



Call: 051 861 600 | Visit: www.waterfordcu.ie | Email: info@waterfordcu.ie26 Call: 051 861 600 | Visit: www.waterfordcu.ie | Email: info@waterfordcu.ie 27

Waterford Credit Union Limited Annual Report 2021

Marketing Committee Report
The responsibility and purpose of the marketing committee is to promote Waterford Credit 
Union to become the financial provider of choice for both members and potential members 
within our common bond.

Our aim is to cultivate Waterford Credit Unions’ association and involvement with local 
businesses, schools, colleges and groups through; support, sponsorship and collaboration 
initiatives. 

Waterford Credit Union nurture relationship development with our 33,637 members 
through two-way communication via social media, surveys, inhouse suggestion boxes and 
at our Annual General Meeting. A key task of the committee is to educate and inform 
our members on the suite of products and services available to them. Additionally, 
communicate with potential members who may benefit from our services through radio 
and press advertising, social media platforms and our website.

Throughout the pandemic, as an essential service, Waterford Credit Union remained open 
to serve and support our members. During this time, additional resources were put in place 
in our online and lending departments which enabled members to apply for a loan, open 
an account and transact more freely from the safety of their own home. Another welcomed 
service implemented by our lending department was in the introduction of an appointment 
service for members drawing-down a loan.  

Providing digital options for members was at the forefront of our plan. We saw a rise in new 
accounts being opened online – from the 1,358 new members in 2021, 527 (38%) of those 
members opened their account online. We also saw a huge influx of members visiting our 
website to retrieve information, with approximately 20,000 visitors each month. Online 
registrations almost doubled going from 7,500 members registered online in 2020 to 
13,500 members registered today.  

Our new and improved Mobile App was launched in May 2021. This facility allows members 
to view account balances & recent transactions, view/print statements, pay bills, transfer 
money, apply for a loan and open a Current Account and Debitcard – on the go. To date, 
we have 4,083 mobile app downloads. 

Supporting young people in our community
With remote learning becoming the norm during Covid-19 and classrooms operating 
with social distance guidelines in place, Waterford Credit Union were proud to donate 
old computers and €1,000 to Waterford College of Further Education. Such donations 
enabled the college to purchase new laptops and set up a new classroom with the 
refurbished computers from WCU. 

Waterford CU were honoured to get involved in a national campaign on supporting 
inclusivity in the classroom with dyslexia-friendly books. We played our part by 
sponsoring a set of 4 dyslexia-friendly children’s books about Irish wildlife to twenty-one 
local primary schools in Waterford. This was a collaboration with Clare author, Shane Casey.

Marketing Committee Report continued
As restrictions eased during the year, we enjoyed a visit to Tramore school - Ard Scoil Na 
Mara where we spoke to 6th years about the role of the credit union in the community and 
tips on finance. We look forward to getting out and about to visit more local schools as 
restrictions continue to ease in 2022.

Junior Savers week is a key event during the year to encourage children aged 7-12 
years (primary school age) to open an account and save with Waterford Credit Union. We 
welcomed 150 new junior savers during the promotion during September 2021. Remember, 
all new minor accounts (under 16 years) each receive a goody-bag when they join WCU!
Art Competition/ Schools Quiz

Both the Art Competition and Schools Quiz were held virtually in 2021. We would like to 
acknowledge the dedication and commitment from the schools, teachers, students and 
parents for ensuring the events went ahead. We received amazing pieces of art and were 
delighted to give students taking part in both events’ goody-bags and winners trophies. 
We look forward to seeing you all in-person next year. 

Member Reward Card
The committee are always looking at ways to reward our loyal members and support 
businesses in our community. What better way to incorporate our commitment to members 
and the community by bringing them together under our Member Reward Card initiative. 
During 2021, Waterford CU teamed up with 30 local businesses to give members exclusive 
offers when shopping locally. Participating businesses offer WCU members between 5% 
- 10% discount when shopping at their store. Sign up for your Member Reward Card by 
emailing comms@waterfordcu.ie.

In addition, WCU are proud to support Waterford Chamber ‘Waterford Gift Voucher’ 
initiative, by becoming a selling agent for the vouchers. We feel this is great initiative 
and incentive to support our local businesses and help our local economy recover after a 
turbulent two years.

Combined Credit Union
With local banks leaving the Irish market and others closing branches, we recently 
collaborated with our fellow credit unions in Dungarvan, Lisduggan and St. Dominic’s to 
communicate our message “You’d be surprised what we have to offer”. We feel it is more 
important than ever to join forces with other local credit unions to ensure the people of 
Waterford are aware of the services available in their local credit union. Services such as 
current account / debit card, mobile banking, loans and mortgages to name a few. 



Call: 051 861 600 | Visit: www.waterfordcu.ie | Email: info@waterfordcu.ie28 Call: 051 861 600 | Visit: www.waterfordcu.ie | Email: info@waterfordcu.ie 29

Waterford Credit Union Limited Annual Report 2021

Marketing Committee Report continued
Sponsorship/Donations
Below are some groups and charities we supported by way of donating monies raised from 
the sale of piggy-banks in our branches during the year:

u Waterford City in Bloom 
u 15th/25th Waterford Sacred Heart Scout Group (to help develop a “Sensory 

Garden”)
u St. Vincent de Paul – Red to work 
u Solas Cancer and Support Centre – Run for Life
u Blood bikes – out of hours medical transport service 
u Waterford Hospice – coffee morning
u Bike gathering – ‘beards for buddy’ (Marine Search & Rescue)
u Alone – support for older people living at home
u Waterford Hospice - Daffodil Day 
u Family Carers Association 

Committee: Melanie Cleary, Johann D’Arcy, Garrett Wyse, Jenny O’Mahony, 
Brian Fanning, Niamh McCarthy, Michelle O’Regan and Ann-Marie Drohan (Chair)

Date: 8th February 2022

Auditors’ Report

Independent auditors’ report to the members of 
Waterford Credit Union Limited
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Waterford Credit Union Limited’s (the ‘Credit Union’) financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the credit union’s affairs as at 30 September 

2021 and of its income and expenditure and cash flows for the year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice in Ireland (accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council 
of the UK, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” and Irish law); and

• have been properly prepared so as to conform with the requirements of the Credit 
Union Act 1997, as amended.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which 
comprise: 
• the balance sheet as at 30 September 2021;
• the income and expenditure account for the year then ended; 
• the statement of changes in reserves for the year then ended;
• the cash flow statement for the year then ended;
• the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant 

accounting policies. 

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) 
(“ISAs (Ireland)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (Ireland) are further 
described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section 
of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the credit union in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Ireland, which includes IAASA’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt 
on the credit union’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date on which the financial statements are authorised for issue.
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In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is 
not a guarantee as to the credit union’s ability to continue as a going concern.     

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern 
are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Reporting on other information
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than 
the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for 
the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or 
material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there 
is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the 
other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 13, 
the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 
The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the credit 
union’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 
intend to liquidate the credit union or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) 

Auditors’ Report continued
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and 
balances, possibly using data auditing techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a 
limited number of items for testing, rather than testing complete populations. We will often 
seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other 
cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion about the population 
from which the sample is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is 
located on the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority website at:

https://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-a98202dc9c3a/
Description_of_auditors_responsibilities_for_audit.pdf. 

This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the credit union’s 
members as a body in accordance with section 120 of the Credit Union Act 1997, as 
amended and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or 
into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
Credit Union Act 1997, as amended opinions on other matters 
• We have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 

knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.
• In our opinion proper accounting records have been kept by the credit union.
• The financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Waterford
Date: 8th February 2022

Auditors’ Report continued
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For the financial year ended 30 September 2021

 Note 2021 2020
  € €
Income   
Interest on members’ loans  4 3,804,400 3,785,834
Other interest receivable and similar income 5 1,034,607 971,308
Net interest income  4,839,007 4,757,142
Gain on settlement of legal claims 6 1,250,000 -
Other income 6 85,035 80,829
Deposit interest received  1,804 1,435
  
Total income  6,175,846 4,839,406
   
Total expenditure  
Salaries and pension costs 8 1,840,446 1,925,114
Share/loan insurance (gross) and DBI  618,115 564,292
Other operating expenses   1,705,439 1,788,663
Depreciation and amortisation 11, 12 424,774 439,039
Movement in the provision for bad 
and doubtful debts 7 (405,451) (394,000)
Bad and doubtful loans charged off 7 489,108 484,550
Bad debts recovered, net of SPS charge 7 (603,323) (481,792)
  
Total expenditure  4,069,108 4,325,866
  
Surplus for the year  2,106,738 513,540
  

The Credit Union has no gains or losses in the financial year or the preceding financial 
year other than those dealt with in the income and expenditure account.  Accordingly, no 
statement of comprehensive income is presented.

On behalf of the Credit Union

Chief Executive Officer: Melanie Cleary

Member of the Board Oversight Committee: Kieran Millar

Member of the Board of Directors: John Phelan

Date: 8th February 2022

Income and Expenditure Account
As at 30 September 2021

 Note 2021 2020
  € €
Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 9 32,007,329 24,454,376
Deposits and investments 10 105,244,153 114,892,730
Loans to members 7 41,904,486 40,414,836
Tangible fixed assets 11 3,378,197 3,640,538
Intangible assets 12 109,344 143,931
Debtors and prepaid expenses 13 2,296,599 999,846
  
Total assets  184,940,108 184,546,257
  
Liabilities   
Members’ deposits 14 11,309,797 12,330,258
Members’ current accounts 15 711,491 442,783
Members’ shares 16 143,917,181 143,631,670
Other liabilities, accruals and charges 17 1,569,979 1,388,408
  
  157,508,448 157,793,119
  
Reserves   
Regulatory reserve  20,186,697 18,897,176
Operational risk reserve  805,729 845,250
Capital contribution  1,434,164 1,630,169
Distributable reserve  856,738 -
Dormant account reserve  4,148,332 5,380,543

  27,431,660 26,753,138

Total liabilities and reserves  184,940,108 184,546,257
  
On behalf of the Credit Union

Chief Executive Officer: Melanie Cleary

Member of the Board Oversight Committee: Kieran Millar

Member of the Board of Directors: John Phelan

Date: 8th February 2022

Balance Sheet
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Statement of Changes in Reserves

(1) The regulatory reserve of the Credit Union as a percentage of total assets as at 30 
September 2021 was 10.92% (2020: 10.24%).

(2) In order to comply with the regulatory reserve requirement, as part of the transfer 
of engagement the capital position of Tramore Credit Union Limited was restored 
through a contribution received from the Savings Protection Scheme (‘SPS’) of 
€1,832,000 from the Irish League of Credit Unions, which resulted in the League 
acquiring a portion of Tramore Credit Union’s loans to members. During the 
year Waterford Credit Union Limited received €196,005 (2020: €201,831) in loan 
repayments from the loans that the League had acquried. The Credit Union has 
paid this to the League and the directors have chosen to offset this against the 
capital contribution. Refer to note 26. 

For the financial year ended 30 September 2021 

   Operational Dormant   
  Regulatory risk account Capital Distributable 
 Surplus reserve reserve reserve contribution reserve Total
 € € € € € € €

Opening balance at 1 October 2019 - 14,052,382 794,500 4,569,431 - 2,553,824 21,970,137
Surplus for the year 513,540 - - - - - 513,540
Arising on transfer of engagement - 3,570,010 162,598 - 1,832,000 (1,904,428) 3,660,180
Transfer to dormant account reserve - - - 811,112 - - 811,112
Transfer to regulatory reserve - 1,274,784 (111,848) - - (1,162,936) -
Transfer between reserves (513,540) - - - - 513,540 -
Repayment of SPS funding reserve - - - - (201,831) - (201,831)
  
Closing balance at 
30 September 2020 - 18,897,176 845,250 5,380,543 1,630,169 - 26,753,138
  
Opening balance at 1 October 2020 - 18,897,176 845,250 5,380,543 1,630,169 - 26,753,138
Surplus for the year 2,106,738 - - - - - 2,106,738
Transfer from dormant account reserve - - - (1,232,211) - - (1,232,211)
Transfer to regulatory reserve - 1,289,521 (39,521) - - (1,250,000) -
Transfer between reserves (2,106,738) - - - - 2,106,738 -
Repayment of SPS funding reserve - - - - (196,005) - (196,005)

Closing balance at 
30 September 2021 - 20,186,697 805,729 4,148,332 1,434,164 856,738 27,431,660
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For the financial year ended 30 September 2021

   2021 2020
  € €
Cash flows from operating activities   
Loans repaid by members  18,838,175 18,951,338
Loans granted to members     (19,922,374)    (18,758,628)
Loan interest received  3,826,930 3,765,023
Interest received on members’ deposits  1,804 1,435
Investment income received  1,156,293 1,027,523
Other income received   85,035 80,829
Bad debts recovered, net of SPS payment  603,323 481,792
Operating expenses paid to include employment costs  (4,662,506) (4,471,876)
  
Net cash flows (used in)/generated 
from operating activities  (73,320) 1,077,436
   
Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (88,670) (70,061)
Purchase of intangible assets  (39,176) (11,102)
Decrease/(increase) in investments         9,648,577    (21,298,226)
  
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) investing activities    9,520,731     (21,379,389)
   
Cash flow from financing activities   
Repayment of capital contribution  (196,005) (201,831)
Members’ shares received  59,451,682 60,499,122
Members’ shares withdrawn      (60,398,382)    (51,415,853)
Members’ current account lodgements   7,520,649 3,330,840
Members’ current account withdrawals       (7,251,941) (2,891,480)
Members’ deposits received  66,673,549 65,057,874
Members’ deposits withdrawn      (67,694,010)    (65,005,778)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated 
from financing activities  (1,894,458) 9,372,894

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  7,552,953    (10,929,059)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  24,454,376 32,363,312
Cash and cash equivalents arising from 
transfer of engagement  - 3,020,123
  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  32,007,329 24,454,376
  
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:   
Cash at bank and on hand   2,521,188 1,849,321
Cash deposited with banks with original 
maturity of less than or equal to three months  29,486,141 22,605,055
  
  32,007,329 24,454,376

Cash Flow Statement Notes to the Financial Statements
1 Legal and regulatory framework
 Waterford Credit Union Limited (“the Credit Union”) is established under the Credit 

Union Acts 1997 to 2012.  The Credit Union is registered with the Register of Credit 
Unions and is regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland.  

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
 The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the Credit Union’s 

financial statements are set out below.  These policies have been consistently applied 
to all financial periods presented unless otherwise stated. 

(a) Statement of compliance and basis of preparation
 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 “The 

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (“FRS 
102”).

 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

(b) Currency
 The financial statements are prepared in Euro (€), which is the functional currency of 

the Credit Union.  Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to 
the nearest Euro.

(c) Going concern
 The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.  The directors of 

Waterford Credit Union Limited believe this is appropriate as the Credit Union:
• is generating annual surpluses;
• maintains an appropriate level of liquidity; and
• has reserves that are currently above the minimum requirements of the Central 

Bank.

 In considering going concern, the directors have had regard to the underlying 
income and expenditure and the continuing risks arising from the COVID-19 
pandemic. They are satisfied that the Credit Union has adequate resources to meet 
obligations for the foreseeable future from the date of approval of these financial 
statements.

(d) Income
 Interest on members’ loans
 Interest on loans to members is recognised using the effective interest method and 

is calculated and accrued on a daily basis.

 Investment income
 The Credit Union currently only has investments that are valued at amortised cost 

and use the effective interest method to recognise investment income.

 Other income
 Other income such as commissions receivable on insurance products and foreign 

exchange services arises in connection to specific transactions.  Income relating to 
individual transactions is recognised when the transaction is completed.

(e) Tangible fixed assets 
 Tangible fixed assets comprise of items of property, plant and equipment, which 

are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the asset. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
2 Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

(e) Tangible fixed assets (continued)

 Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and 
equipment, less its estimated residual value over its estimated useful life. The 
categories of property, plant and equipment are depreciated as follows: 

 Freehold buildings 2% - 2.5% Straight line
 Fixtures and fittings 20%  Straight line
 Computer equipment 20% - 33% Straight line

       
 The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference 

between the sale proceeds and the carrying value of the asset and is recognised in 
the Income and Expenditure account.  

(f) Impairment of fixed assets
 At each reporting end date, the Credit Union reviews the carrying value of its fixed 

assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered 
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
the Credit Union estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs. 

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

 If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Income and Expenditure account. 

 Recognised impairment losses are reversed if, and only if, the reasons for the 
impairment loss have ceased to apply. Where an impairment loss subsequently 
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of 
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in the Income and Expenditure account.

(g) Intangible assets
 Computer software is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 

impairment losses.  Software is amortised over its estimated useful life, of four years, 
on a straight-line basis. Software is not considered to have a residual value.

 Where factors, such as technological advancement or changes in market prices, 
indicate that the software’s useful life has changed, the useful life is amended 
prospectively to reflect the new circumstances.

 Intangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if there is an indication that the 
intangible fixed asset may be impaired.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
2 Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

(h) Taxation
 The Credit Union is not subject to income tax or corporation tax on its activities as a 

Credit Union.

(i) Dividends to members and interest on members’ deposits
 Interest on members’ deposits
 Interest on members’ deposits is recognised using the effective interest method.

 Dividends on shares and loan interest rebates
 Dividends are made from current year’s surplus or the dividend reserves set aside for 

that purpose.  The Board’s proposed distribution to members each year is based on 
the dividend and loan interest rebate policy of the Credit Union.

 Dividends on shares and loan interest rebates - continued
 The rate of dividend and loan interest rebate recommended by the Board will reflect:

• the risk profile of the Credit Union, particularly in its loan and investment 
portfolios;

• the Board’s desire to maintain a stable rather than a volatile rate of dividend each 
year; and

• members’ legitimate dividend and loan interest rebate expectations.

 This decision is made factoring in prudence and the need to sustain the long-term 
welfare of the Credit Union.

 For this reason, the Board will seek to build up its reserves to absorb unexpected 
shocks and still remain above minimum regulatory requirements.

 The Credit Union accounts for dividends and rebates of loan interest when members 
ratify such payments at the Annual General Meeting.

(j) Cash and cash equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise operating cash on hand and cash deposited 

with banks with original maturity of less than or equal to three months.

(k) Financial instruments
 The Credit Union has elected to apply the provisions of Section 11 ‘Basic Financial 

Instruments’ and Section 12 ‘Other Financial Instruments Issues’ of FRS 102 to all of 
its financial instruments. Financial instruments are recognised when the Credit Union 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 Financial assets and liabilities are offset, with the net amounts presented in the 
financial statements, when, and only when, there is a legally enforceable right to set 
off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 Financial assets and liabilities are classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

(k) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Basic financial assets
 Basic financial assets are initially measured at the transaction price, including 

transaction costs, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Basic financial instruments include the following: 

 Loans to members 
 Loans to members are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments. 

Loans are recognised when cash is advanced to members and measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 Investments held at amortised cost 
 Investments held at amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method less impairment. This means that the investment is 
measured at the amount paid for the investment, minus any repayments of 
the principal; plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method of any difference between the amount at initial recognition and 
the maturity amount; minus, in the case of a financial asset, any reduction for 
impairment or un-collectability. This effectively spreads out the return on such 
investments over time, but does take account immediately of any impairment in 
the value of the investment. 

(ii) Other receivables
 Other receivables such as prepayments are initially measured at transaction 

price including transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. 

(iii) Impairment of financial assets
 Financial assets, other than those held at fair value, are assessed for indicators 

of impairment at each reporting end date. 

 Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a 
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows have been affected.  If an asset 
is impaired, the impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount 
and the present value of the expected cash flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. 

 In the case of impairment of loans to members, the loans are assessed collectively 
in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics except for individually 
significant loans which are assessed on a loan by loan basis for impairment. 

 Any impairment losses are recognised in the Income and Expenditure account. 

 If there is a decrease in the impairment loss arising from an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the impairment is reversed. The reversal 
is such that the current carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying 
amount would have been, had the impairment not previously been recognised. 
The impairment reversal is recognised in the Income and Expenditure account. 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
2 Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

(k) Financial instruments (continued)

(iv) De-recognition of financial assets
 Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash 

flows from the asset expire or are settled, or when the Credit Union transfers 
to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset, or if some significant risks and rewards of ownership are retained 
but control of the asset has transferred to another party that is able to sell the 
asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party. 

 In the case of loans to members, loans are derecognised, when the right to 
receive cash flows from the loans have expired, usually when all amounts 
outstanding have been repaid by the member. Waterford Credit Union Limited 
does not transfer loans to third parties. 

(v) Basic financial liabilities 
 Basic financial liabilities are initially recognised at the transaction price, including 

transaction costs, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, 
where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the future 
payments discounted at a market rate of interest. Financial liabilities are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 Financial liabilities members’ shares and deposits 
 Members’ shares, Money Management Accounts and Deposits are redeemable 

and therefore are classified as financial liabilities. They are initially recognised 
at the amount of cash deposited and subsequently members’ deposits are 
measured at amortised cost. 

 Other payables 
 Other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one 

year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Other payables 
are recognised initially at transaction price and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

(vi) De-recognition of financial liabilities 
 Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligations of the Credit Union 

specified in the contract are discharged, cancelled or expire. 

(l) Reserves
 Regulatory reserve
 The Credit Union is required to maintain and establish a minimum regulatory reserve 

of at least 10% of the assets of the Credit Union in accordance with Credit Union Act 
1997 (Regulatory Requirements) Regulations 2016.

 Operational risk reserve
 The Credit Union has established an operational risk reserve which is separate, 

distinct and in addition to the reserves the Credit Union is required to hold in its 
regulatory reserve.  The amount held in the operational risk reserve is the predicted 
impact of operational risk events that may have a material impact on the Credit 
Union’s business.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

(l) Reserves (continued)

 Capital contribution
 Capital contribution comprises of a cash contribution which the Credit Union 

received from the Irish League of Credit Unions (‘ILCU’). In order to comply with the 
regulatory reserve requirement, as part of the transfer of engagement, the capital 
position of Tramore Credit Union Limited was restored through this contribution 
which was received using the Savings Protection Scheme (‘SPS’) from the ILCU. 
The League have no right to seek repayment of this contribution and in addition 
the League have not been granted rights or entitlements to voting rights, profit 
participation rights or rights to participate in the distribution of the surplus assets of 
the Credit Union in the event of a winding up. 

 
 Other reserves
 Rule 22 of the Standard Rules for Credit Unions 2011 permit credit unions to transfer 

dormant shares and deposit accounts to a reserve account.  Dividends and interest 
shall continue to be payable to such accounts.

 Distributable reserve
 Distributable reserves are the accumulated surpluses to date that have not been 

declared as dividends or loan interest rebate returnable to members or set aside to 
the statutory operational risk reserve. 

(m) Employee benefits 
 Pension scheme 
 The Credit Union operates a Defined Contribution Pension Scheme for employees.  

The annual contributions are charged to the Income and Expenditure Account.

 Other employee benefits 
 The costs of short-term employee benefits, including holiday pay, are recognised 

as a liability and as an expense (unless those costs are required to be recognised as 
part of the cost of fixed assets) over the period they are earned. 

(n) Transfer of engagement 
 Transfers of engagement are accounted for by using the purchase method of 

accounting in accordance with Section 19 ‘Business Combinations and Goodwill’ 
of FRS 102. This involves recognising assets and liabilities of any transferor Credit 
Union at fair value plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination. 
The value of member interests transferred by Waterford Credit Union Limited (the 
Transferee Credit Union) to the former members of the transferor Credit Unions 
represents the consideration for the assets transferred.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
3 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
 The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain accounting 

estimates. It also requires the Directors to exercise judgement in applying Waterford 
Credit Union Limited’s accounting policies. The areas requiring a higher degree 
of judgement, or complexity, and areas where assumptions or estimates are most 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed below: 

 Impairment losses on loans to members 
 The Credit Union’s accounting policy for impairment of financial assets is set out 

above. The estimation of loan losses is inherently uncertain and depends upon many 
factors, including loan loss trends, credit risk characteristics in loan classes, local 
and international economic climates, conditions in various sectors of  the economy 
to which the Credit Union is exposed, and, other external factors such as legal 
and regulatory requirements and the impact of Covid-19. Credit risk is identified, 
assessed and measured through the use of rating with emphasis on weeks in arrears 
and other observable credit risk metrics. The ratings influence the management 
of individual loans. The credit rating triggers the impairment assessment and, if 
relevant, the raising of specific provisions on individual loans where there is doubt 
about their recoverability. Loan loss provisioning is monitored by the Credit Union, 
and the Credit Union assesses and approves its provisions and provision adequacy 
on a quarterly basis. Key assumptions underpinning the Credit Union’s estimates of 
collective provisions for loans with similar credit risk characteristics, and, Incurred 
But Not Reported provisions (“IBNR”) are based on the historical experiences of 
the Credit Union allied to the Credit Union’s judgement of relevant conditions in 
the wider technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the Credit 
Union operates. If a loan is impaired, the impairment loss is the difference between 
the carrying amount of the loan and the present value of the expected cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate taking account of pledged 
shares and other security as appropriate. Assumptions are back tested with the 
benefit of experience. After a period of time, when it is concluded that there is 
no real prospect of recovery of loans/part of loans which have been subjected to 
a specific provision, the Credit Union writes off that amount of the loan deemed 
irrecoverable against the specific provision held against the loan.
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4 Loan interest on members’ loans 2021 2020
  € €
 Closing accrued loan interest receivable 113,268 135,798
 Loan interest received in year 3,826,930 3,765,023
 Opening accrued loan interest receivable (135,798) (114,987)
  
  3,804,400 3,785,834

5 Deposit interest and investment income 2021 2020
  € €
 Received by the credit union at 
 the balance sheet date 438,702 257,931
 Receivable within 12 months of the 
 balance sheet date (note 13) 595,905 717,591
 Other investment loss 
 (net of write down of investments) - (4,214)
  
  1,034,607 971,308

6 Other income 2021 2020
  € € 
 Commission:  
 Insurance commission 5,719 8,777
 Repayment of protection insurance 2,840 3,160
 Foreign exchange 7,749 15,307

 Other:  
 Gain on settlement of legal claims (i) 1,250,000 -
 Safety deposit boxes 20,520 19,485
 Credit control collection 1,428 6,590
 Miscellaneous 868 6,449
 Income from business account services 12,685 9,894
 Income from current account services 33,226 11,167

 Total per income and expenditure account 1,335,035 80,829
  
 (i) The Credit Union settled legal claims giving rise to an income of €1,250,000.

7 Loans to members 2021 2020
  € €
 (a) Gross loans to members 50,864,748 49,780,549

 Impairment allowance:  
 Individual loans (3,566,696) (1,232,594)
 Group loans (5,393,566) (8,133,119)
    

Loan provision (8,960,262) (9,365,713)
  
 Net loans to members 41,904,486 40,414,836

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
7 Loans to members (continued)
  
 (b) Credit risk disclosures
 Waterford Credit Union Limited offers secured and unsecured loans to its members. There 

are restrictions on the extent to which borrowers may withdraw their savings whilst loans 
are outstanding. There are maximum amounts set down by the Central Bank in terms of 
what amount a member can borrow from the Credit Union.

 The carrying amount of the loans to members represents Waterford Credit Union Limited’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk. The following table provides information on the credit 
quality of loan repayments. Where loans are not impaired it is expected that the amounts 
repayable will be received in full.

   2021 Amount 2020
  Amount Proportion Amount Proportion
  € % € %
 Not past due 44,263,151 87.0% 36,647,122 73.6%
 Up to 9 weeks past due 1,144,949 2.3% 6,026,639 12.1%
 Between 10 and 18 weeks 
 past due 318,961 0.6% 438,346 0.9%
 Between 19 and 26 weeks 
 past due 235,870 0.5% 61,268 0.1%
 Between 27 and 39 weeks 
 past due 342,864 0.7% 164,731 0.3%
 Between 40 and 52 weeks 
 past due 573,406 1.1% 105,123 0.2%
 53 and more weeks past due 3,985,547 7.8% 6,337,320 12.8%
  
 Total gross loans  50,864,748 100.0% 49,780,549 100.0%
  
 Impairment allowance (8,960,262)  (9,365,713)
   
 Total carrying value 41,904,486  40,414,836
   

 Factors that are considered in determining whether loans are impaired are discussed in 
note 3.

 Impaired loans include loans which have been rescheduled by the Credit Union with the 
member which amount to €1,815,688 at 30 September 2021 (2020: €2,323,508).
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7 Loans to members (continued) 2021 2020
  € €
 (c) Loan provision account for impairment losses  
 As at 1 October 9,365,713 8,605,000
 Arising on transfer of engagement  -     1,154,713
 Net movement in bad debt provision 
 during the year for loans currently outstanding 5,828 (56,386)
 Decrease in bad debt provision as a result 
 of loan write-offs previously provided for (411,279) (337,614)
  
 As at 30 September 8,960,262 9,365,713

 (d) Net recoveries or losses recognised for the year
 Gross bad debts recovered 806,395 639,704
 SPS charge on bad debts recovered (i) (203,072) (157,912)
 Bad debts recovered, net of SPS charge 603,323 481,792
 Reduction in loan provisions during the year 405,451 394,000
  1,008,774 875,792
 
 Loans written off (489,108) (484,550)
 
 Net recoveries on loans to members recognised
 for the year 519,666 391,242
  

(i) The SPS charge on bad debts recovered relates to amounts that are payable 
to the Irish League of Credit Unions (‘ILCU’). This charge is in respect of loans 
which were previously written off by Tramore Credit Union, however, the 
ILCU acquired these loans as part of SPS funding which the ILCU provided to 
Tramore Credit Union in prior years. Refer to note 26 for further details.

Notes to the Financial Statements continuedNotes to the Financial Statements continued
8 Employees and employment costs 2021 2020
  number number
 (i) Number of employees  
 The average monthly number of employees 
 during the year was:
 CEO 1 1
 Other staff 49 59
  
  50 60

  2021 2020
  € €
 (ii) Employment costs  
 Wages and salaries 1,777,174 1,840,067
 Pension costs (note 20) 63,272 85,047
  
  1,840,446 1,925,114
    
 (iii) Key management personnel  
 The remuneration of key management 
 personnel was as follows:
 Short term employee benefits 429,764 429,764
 Payments to defined contribution schemes 20,248 40,230
  
  450,012 469,994
  
 Short terms employee benefits include wages, salaries, social security contributions 

and paid annual leave.

9 Cash and cash equivalents  2021 2020
  € €
 Cash at bank and on hand 2,521,188 1,849,321
 Short term deposits with banks  29,486,141 22,605,055
  
  32,007,329 24,454,376
  
 Short term deposits with banks are deposits with original maturity of less than or 

equal to three months. All other deposits with banks are included under investments 
and deposits in the Balance Sheet and disclosed in Note 10.
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10 Investments and deposits 
 Investments at the current and prior balance sheet date were all measured at 

amortised cost as appropriate and comprised of the following:
  2021 2020
  € €
 Investments and deposits 105,552,716 115,367,927
 Amortisation of premiums paid (308,563) (475,197)
  
    105,244,153   114,892,730
 Deposits with maturity of less than or
  equal to three months – presented within 
 cash and cash equivalents 29,486,141     22,605,055
  
  134,730,294 137,497,785
  
 The credit rating of counterparties with whom investments were held was as follows:
  2021 2020
  € €
 Aa2 - 1,362,741
 Aa3 1,356,280 7,168,765
 A1 30,968,574 22,079,125
 A2 15,971,316 18,339,864
 A3 31,665,632 38,646,217
 Baa1 38,746,240 25,500,175
 Baa2 16,022,252 24,400,898
  
  134,730,294 137,497,785
  

  

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
11 Tangible fixed assets
      
  Freehold Freehold   
 Freehold premises premises Fixtures  
 premises Upper Summerhill and Computer 
 Parnell St Grange Tramore fittings equipment Total
 € € € € € €
Cost      
At 1 October 2020 1,090,895 4,245,123 436,043   430,971 407,034 6,610,066
Additions - - - 27,097 61,573 88,670
Write-off of fully 
depreciated assets - - - (28,977) (33,163) (62,140)
  
At 30 September 2021 1,090,895 4,245,123 436,043 429,091 435,444 6,636,596
  
Depreciation      
At 1 October 2020 742,435 1,898,507 15,493 135,270 177,823 2,969,528 
Charge for the year      27,272    106,128      16,902 95,894 104,815    351,011
Write-off of fully 
depreciated assets  - - - (28,977) (33,163)   (62,140)
  
At 30 September 2021 769,707 2,004,635 32,395 202,187 249,475 3,258,399
  
Net book value 
At 30 September 2021 321,188 2,240,488    403,648 226,904 185,969 3,378,197
  
At 30 September 2020 348,460 2,346,616    420,550 295,701 229,211 3,640,538
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12 Intangible assets Computer Software
  €
 Cost 
 At 1 October 2020 251,803
 Additions 39,176
 Write-off of fully amortised assets (28,492)
  
 At 30 September 2021 262,487
  
 Amortisation 
 At 1 October 2020 107,872
 Charge for the year 73,763
 Write-off of fully amortised assets (28,492)
  
 At 30 September 2021 153,143
   
 At 30 September 2021 109,344
  
 At 30 September 2020 143,931

13 Debtors and prepaid expenses 2021 2020
  € €
 Prepayments and other debtors 1,587,426 146,457
 Accrued income on investments 595,905 717,591
 Accrued loan interest income 113,268 135,798
  
  2,296,599 999,846
  
14 Members’ deposits 2021 2020
  € €
 As at 1 October 12,330,258 10,842,918
 Arising on transfer of engagement - 1,435,244
 Received during the year 66,673,549 65,057,874
 Repaid during the year (67,694,010) (65,005,778)
  
 As at 30 September 11,309,797 12,330,258

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
15 Members’ current accounts 2021 2020
  € €
 As at 1 October 442,783 3,423
 Received during the year 7,520,649 3,330,840
 Repaid during the year (7,251,941) (2,891,480)
  
 As at 30 September 711,491 442,783
     
16 Members’ deposits 2021 2020
  € €
 As at 1 October 143,631,670 103,751,090
 Arising on transfer of engagement  - 31,608,423
 Transfer from/(to) dormant reserve 1,232,211 (811,112)
 Received during the year    59,451,682 60,499,122
 Repaid during the year (60,398,382) (51,415,853)
 
 As at 30 September 143,917,181 143,631,670
  
 Members’ shares are repayable on demand except for shares attached to loans.

17 Other liabilities, accruals and charges  2021 2020
  € €
 Trade creditors 314,348 197,061
 Accruals and other creditors 1,215,733 1,160,158
 PAYE/PRSI  39,898 31,189
  
  1,569,979 1,388,408
  
 Trade and other creditors are repayable at various dates in the next three months in 

accordance with suppliers’ usual and customary credit terms.

 Tax and social insurance are repayable at various dates over the coming months in 
accordance with the applicable statutory provisions.
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18 Additional financial instrument disclosures

(a) Financial risk management
 Waterford Credit Union Limited is a provider of personal and business loans and 

also provides savings products to its members.  The Credit Union invests excess 
funds with a view to ensuring that the return from members’ loans and investments 
is adequate to meet the overheads of the Credit Union and provide a reasonable 
return to members on shares and deposits.  The Credit Union has a risk register 
in place to help the directors manage the various risks arising from its activities to 
include the issuing of loans to members and investing the excess funds of the Credit 
Union.

 The main financial risks arising from Credit Union’s activities are credit risk, liquidity 
risk and interest rate risk.  The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each 
of these risks, which are summarised below.

 Credit risk
 Credit risk is the risk that a borrower will default on their contractual obligations 

relating to repayments to Waterford Credit Union Limited, resulting in financial loss 
to the Credit Union.  In order to manage this risk the Board approves the Credit 
Union’s credit policy, and all changes to it.  All loan applications are assessed with 
reference to the credit policy in force at the time.  Subsequently loans are regularly 
reviewed for any factors that may indicate that the likelihood of repayment has 
changed.  

 The Credit Union’s investments are also exposed to credit risk and the Credit Union 
mitigates the risk by only placing investments with financial institutions where the 
counterparties have strong credit ratings and using investment products authorised 
by the Central Bank.

 Liquidity risk
 The Credit Union’s policy is to maintain sufficient funds in liquid form at all times to 

ensure that it can meet its liabilities as they fall due. The Credit Union adheres on 
an ongoing basis to the minimum liquidity ratio and minimum short-term liquidity 
ratio as set out in the Credit Union Act 1997 as amended (Regulatory Requirements) 
Regulations 2018.

 Market risk
 Market risk is generally comprised of interest rate risk, currency risk and other price 

risk.  Waterford Credit Union Limited conducts all its transactions in Euro and does 
not deal in derivatives or commodity markets.  Therefore, the Credit Union is not 
exposed to any form of currency risk or other price risk.

 Interest rate risk
 The Credit Union’s main interest rate risk arises from differences between the 

interest rate exposures on the receivables and payables that form an integral part of 
a Credit Union’s operations.  The Credit Union considers rates of interest receivable 
on investments and members’ loans when deciding on the dividend rate payable on 
shares and on any loan interest rebate.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
18. Additional financial instrument disclosures (continued)

(b) Interest rate risk disclosures

 The following table shows the average interest rates applicable to relevant financial 
assets and financial liabilities:

   2021  2020
   Average  Average
  Amount interest Amount interest
  € rate % € rate %
 Financial assets    
 Gross loans to members 50,864,748 8.73 49,780,549 8.19
  
 Financial liabilities    
 Members’ shares   143,917,181 -   143,631,670 -
 Members’ current 
 accounts 711,491 -          442,783 -
 Members’ deposits 11,309,797 0.01 12,330,258 0.01
  
 The interest rates applicable to loans to members are fixed and range from 3.99% 

to 12.00%.  Interest payable and receivable are largely fixed and therefore no 
sensitivity analysis is required.  

 Dividends are discretionary and set by the Board.

(c)  Liquidity risk disclosures
 All of the financial liabilities of the Credit Union are repayable on demand except 

for certain members’ shares attached to loans and members’ deposits which have a 
fixed maturity date.

(d) Fair value of financial instruments
 Waterford Credit Union Limited does not hold any financial instruments at fair value.

(e) Capital
 Waterford Credit Union Limited maintains sufficient reserves to buffer the Credit 

Union against any losses on its members’ loans and also its investments. The current 
Regulatory reserves are in line with the minimum requirement set down by the 
Central Bank and stand at 10.92% (2020: 10.24%) of the total assets of the Credit 
Union at the Balance Sheet date.
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19 Dividend
 No dividends or interest rebate was paid or declared during the current financial 

year (2020: None). 

20 Pension contribution
 The Credit Union operates a Defined Contribution Pension Scheme for employees. 

The annual contributions are charged to the Income and Expenditure Account. The 
pension contributions by the Credit Union for the year amounted to €63,272 (2020: 
€85,047) of which €16,900 (2020: €14,459) is payable at the year end and has been 
presented within ‘accruals and other creditors’.

 
21 Related party transactions
 The following are details of the related parties’ transaction during the year:

 During the year loans were advanced to related parties, being directors, key 
management team of Waterford Credit Union Limited and their family members 
or any business in which the directors or management team had a significant 
shareholding, in the amount of €485,600 (2020: €20,000).  These loans were 
approved in accordance with the Standard Credit Union rules and the Credit Union 
Act, 1997 (Regulatory Requirements) Regulations 2016.  The loans outstanding from 
these parties at 30 September 2021 were €477,443 (2020: €177,125). These loans 
amounted to 0.94% of total gross loans due at 30 September 2021 (2020: 0.36%).

 There were provisions of €18,798 against loans due from related parties at 30 
September 2021 (2020: €Nil).

 The related parties’ shares, deposits and current account balances stood at €407,294 
at 30 September 2021 (2020: €482,165).

22 Insurance against fraud
 The Credit Union has insurance against fraud in the amount of €5,200,000 (2020: 

€5,200,000) in compliance with Section 47 of the Credit Union Act, 1997 (as 
amended).

23 Capital commitments
 The Credit Union has no contractual obligations at balance sheet date in relation to 

future capital expenditure (2020: None).

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
24 Rates of interest charged on members’ loans Per annum
 
 General loans 7.99% - 12.00%
 Special motor loans 7.99% - 9.92%
 Educational loans 6.00% - 9.99%
 Secured home loans 3.99%
 Home improvement loans 7.99% - 9.99%
 Home renovation loans > €18,000 7.99% - 9.99%

25 Rates of interest paid on members’ deposits
  Per annum
 Deposits (stamps) 0.00%
 Twelve-month deposit accounts 0.02%
 Six-month deposit accounts 0.01%

26 Capital contribution
 A Transfer of Engagement (‘TOE’) was undertaken during the prior year where the 

assets, liabilities and operations of Tramore Credit Union Limited was transferred to 
Waterford Credit Union Limited. This transfer of engagement was completed on 9 
November 2019. 

 To comply with the regulatory reserve requirement as part of the Tramore Credit 
Union Limited transfer of engagement completed during the 2020 financial year, 
the capital position of Tramore Credit Union was restored through a contribution 
received from the Savings Protection Scheme (‘SPS’) of €1,832,000 from the Irish 
League of Credit Unions (the ‘League’). Under the capital contribution agreement, 
the League have no right to seek repayment of this contribution and in addition 
the League have not been granted rights or entitlements to voting rights, profit 
participation rights or rights to participate in the distribution of the surplus assets 
of the Credit Union in the event of a winding up. 

 As part of this transaction whereby SPS funding was received from the League, 
Waterford Credit Union Limited entered a debt purchase agreement which resulted 
in the Credit Union transferring the beneficial ownership of certain loans to members 
to the League. These loans had been previously been provided for by Tramore 
Credit Union Limited and therefore do not form part of the loans to members 
recorded in the financial statements. As Waterford Credit Union Limited does not 
hold the beneficial ownership, any amounts recovered in relation to these loans 
are payable by the member to the SPS. During the year, Waterford Credit Union 
Limited received €196,005 (2020: €201,831) in loan repayments from these loans. 
The directors have chosen to offset this against the capital contribution received.

 Similar debt purchase arrangements arose in Tramore Credit Union Limited in April 
2012 and January 2015 as a result of SPS financing received from the League. As 
Waterford Credit Union Limited does not hold the beneficial ownership, any amounts 
recovered in relation to these loans are payable by the member to the SPS. 
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26 Capital contribution (continued)
 Arising from these arrangements, during the 2021 financial year the Credit Union 

paid €203,072 (2020: €157,912) to the SPS in respect of these previous agreements.

27 Post balance sheet events
 There have been no significant events affecting the Credit Union since the year end.

28 Contingent liabilities and commitments
 As part of the Tramore Credit Union Limited Transfer of Engagement completed 

during the 2020 financial year and in addition to the capital contribution received 
(see note 26), the League have taken a lien over the properties owned by Tramore 
Credit Union. In the event that Waterford Credit Union Limited disposes of these 
properties and generates a profit on disposal in excess of €470,000, this gain will be 
payable to the League less transaction costs incurred as part of the disposal. 

29  Contingent assets
 The credit union has a contingent asset related to recovery costs arising from the 

resolution of legal claims. The directors estimate that this will be at least €200,000. 
The amount which will be recovered is in the process of being finalised. No asset has 
been recognised in respect of this matter.

30 Approval of financial statements
 The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 8th February 

2022.

Schedules To The Income And 
Expenditure Account - Unaudited

Schedule 1 Other operating expenses 2021 2020
 € €
General rates 40,044 36,168
Lighting and heating 36,484 38,361
Cleaning 55,374 59,821
Printing and stationery 55,458 56,980
Postage and telephone 85,875 86,984
Promotion and advertising 85,813 91,919
Convention, seminar expenses and training costs 36,833 28,759
Travel and subsistence 2,139 6,594
Chapter expenses (3,450) 3,309
AGM Expenses 35,164 41,336
Affiliation and SPS fees 24,316 (4,419)
Bank charges 114,846 87,588
Electronic services costs 74,902 55,681
Audit fee 51,346 41,651
General insurance 77,387 76,543
Computer, office machinery and building maintenance 296,301 267,062
Security 24,183 24,930
Legal, professional and consultancy fees 255,998 474,844
General expenses and staff welfare 42,455 50,005
Regulatory fees 279,121 227,888
Irish Credit Bureau 34,730 36,325
Board Oversight Committee expenses 120 334
  
Total per income and expenditure account 1,705,439 1,788,663
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Deposit Guarantee Scheme 
Depositor Information Sheet

Basic information about the protection of your eligible deposits.

Eligible deposits in Waterford Credit 
Union are protected by:

Limit of protection:

If you have more eligible deposits at 
the Waterford Credit Union:

If you have a joint account with other 
person{s}:

Reimbursement period in case of 
Waterford Credit Union’s failure:

Currency of reimbursement:

To contact Waterford Credit Union 
for enquiries relating to your 
account:

To contact the DGS for further 
information on compensation:

More information:

the Deposit Guarantee Scheme 
{“DGS”}.(1)

Eligible deposits up to €100,000 per 
depositor. (2)

All your eligible deposits at 
Waterford Credit Union are 
‘aggregated’ and the total is subject 
to the limit of €100,000. (3)

The limit of €100,000 applies to 
each depositor separately. (3)

Within 10 working days. (4)

Euro

Waterford Credit Union Ltd
Parnell Street
Waterford
Tel. (051) 861 600
Email.  info@waterfordcu.ie
Web. www.waterfordcu.ie

Deposit Guarantee Scheme,
Central Bank of Ireland,
New Wapping Street, 
North Wall Quay, 
Dublin 1.

Tel: 0818 681 681
Email: info@depositguarantee.ie

www.depositguarantee.ie

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
(1) Scheme responsible for the protection of your deposit
Your deposit is covered by a statutory deposit guarantee scheme. If insolvency 
should occur, your eligible deposits would be repaid up to €100,000. 

(2)  General limit of protection 
If a covered deposit is unavailable because a credit institution is unable 
to meet its financial obligations, depositors are repaid by the DGS. This 
repayment covers at maximum €100,000 per person per credit institution. This 
means that all eligible deposits at the same credit institution are added up in 
order to determine the coverage level. If, for instance, a depositor holds a 
savings account with €90,000 and a current account with €20,000, he or she 
will only be repaid €100,000.

(3)  Limit of protection for joint accounts 
In case of joint accounts, the limit of €100,000 applies to each depositor. 
However, eligible deposits in an account to which two or more persons are 
entitled as members of a business partnership, association or grouping of a 
similar nature, without legal personality, are aggregated and treated as if made 
by a single depositor for the purpose of calculating the limit of €100,000. 

In some cases eligible deposits which are categorised as “temporary high 
balances” are protected above €100,000 for six months after the amount 
has been credited or from the moment when such eligible deposits become 
legally transferable. These are eligible deposits relating to certain events which 
include:

(a) certain transactions relating to the purchase, sale or equity release by 
the depositor in relation to a private residential property;

(b) sums paid to the depositor in respect of insurance benefits, personal 
injuries, disability and incapacity benefits, wrongful conviction, unfair 
dismissal, redundancy, and retirement benefits;

(c) the depositor’s marriage, judicial separation, dissolution of civil 
partnership, and divorce;

(d) sums paid to the depositor in respect of benefits payable on death; 
claims for compensation in respect of a person’s death or a legacy or 
distribution from the estate of a deceased person.

More information can be obtained at www.depositguarantee.ie

(4) Reimbursement 
The responsible deposit guarantee scheme is:

Deposit Guarantee Scheme, Central Bank of Ireland, New Wapping Street 
North Wall Quay, Dublin 1. Tel: 0818 681 681.  Email: info@depositguarantee.
ie.  Website: www.depositguarantee.ie. 

It will repay your eligible deposits (up to €100,000) within 10 working days from 
1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023; and within 7 days from 1 January 2024 
onwards, save where specific exceptions apply.

Where the repayable amount cannot be made available within seven working 
days depositors will be given access to an appropriate amount of their covered 
deposits to cover the cost of living within five working days of a request. Access 
to the appropriate amount will only be made on the basis of data provided by 
the credit institution. If you have not been repaid within these deadlines, you 
should contact the deposit guarantee scheme.

OTHER IMPORTANT INFORMATION 
In general, all retail depositors and businesses are covered by the Deposit 
Guarantee Scheme.  Exceptions for certain deposits are stated on the website 
of the Deposit Guarantee Scheme. Your credit institution will also inform you 
on request whether certain products are covered or not. If deposits are eligible, 
the credit institution shall also confirm this on the statement of account.

Minutes of the 2020 Annual General Meeting continued

Minutes of the 2020 Annual General Meeting held by Zoom Webinar on 19th April 
2021 at 7.30 p.m.
 
Present: President:  John Phelan
 Vice President:  Paul O’Keeffe
 Secretary: Catriona McElhinney

Directors: Pat Breslin, Linda O’Kane, Garrett Wyse, Liam Doyle, 
 Tim O’Byrne, Robert Grace, Frank Moriarty, Paul Duggan
 

Board Oversight 
Committee (BOC): Kieran Millar, Vincent Flynn, Melwyn Godinho.

In Attendance:  Melanie Cleary, CEO

Invited Guests : 
Noel Cunningham, moderator. Derek Hennessy, Head of Operations, Athlone Credit Union 
Ltd.

Members in attendance:
There were 77 members in attendance at the Annual General Meeting

1 .The acceptance by the Board of Directors of the authorised representatives of 
members that are not natural persons:

There were no proxies

2. Ascertainment that a quorum is present:

John Phelan, having confirmed that a quorum was present declared the meeting open. John 
explained that due to the Covid-19 Pandemic, the Oireachtas had passed new legislation 
to allow the credit union to hold a virtual Annual General Meeting. John noted that the 
meeting was being held by Zoom Webinar and reminded members of their responsibility 
to protect the privacy of the meeting and advised that the meeting was being recorded. 
Members were advised to use the on-line Q&A facility to submit questions.

John welcomed all present, in particular the founder members, past board members and 
volunteers. John extended sympathy to the families of members who passed away during 
the year. John recognised the impact of Covid-19 on the community and praised the efforts 
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John thanked all of the Chief Executive Officer and staff of the credit union for their 
dedication to members during the Covid-19 Pandemic.

The report of the Board of Directors Proposed by A. Drohan / Seconded by L. Doyle 
Unanimously passed by the meeting.

6. Consideration of accounts

Frank Moriarty, director, reported on the financial performance of the Credit Union for the 
year ended 30th September 2020. Frank reported that the year under review had shown 
continued prudential financial management of the Credit Union finances by the Board of 
Directors.

Frank emphasised that;

• All investments are secure and are invested in a risk averse manner

• Bad Debts are steadily improving

• Investment returns continue to decline

• Minimum and Regulatory Reserve requirements have been fully complied with
 
• Credit Union savings are secure

The approval  of  the  financial  statements

Proposed by M. Winkle / Seconded by J. Breen

Unanimously passed by the meeting.

There were no questions from members.

7. Report of the Auditor

The report for 2020 was presented by Declan Mounsell of PWC. He read out the Auditor’s 
opinion as circulated in the annual report.

“In our opinion, Waterford Credit Union Limited’s financial statements:

of the credit union staff for maintaining credit union services during the most challenging 
period in our history.

3. Adoption of Standing Orders

Adoption of Standing Orders
Proposed by F. Moriarty/ Seconded by M. O Regan Unanimously passed by the meeting.
 
4. Reading and approval (or correction) of the minutes of the last annual general 
meeting

The Chair noted that the minutes of the 2019 Annual General Meeting were circulated in 
advance of the meeting and were being accepted as read. There were no matters arising 
from the minutes.

Minutes of the 2019 Annual General Meeting
 Proposed by T. O Byrne / Seconded by M. O Regan .Unanimously passed by the meeting.

5. Report of the Board of Directors

The report was presented by John Phelan on behalf of the Board. John reported on;

• The successful Transfer of Engagements with Tramore Credit Union;

• The maintenance of credit union services for the community, in particular our 
vulnerable members, during the Covid-19 global pandemic;

• The successful financial management of Credit Union funds;

• On-going compliance with Credit Union Regulations and Fitness and Probity

• Challenge of growing the loan book and the viability challenges facing Waterford 
Credit Union;

• Introduction of a Share Cap

The Chair noted that the reports of the Credit Committee, Credit Control Committee, 
Membership Committee, Investment Committee, Promotion and Development Committee 
were circulated in advance of the meeting and were being accepted as read.
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Report of the Auditor

Proposed by G. Dwyer / Seconded by T. O Byrne Unanimously passed by the meeting.

8. Report of the Board Oversight Committee

The report was presented by Kieran Millar who stated that the purpose of the Board 
Oversight Committee is to oversee the Board of Directors in performing their duties. 
Kieran highlighted the increasing challenges facing the Credit Union in terms of strategy, 
governance, compliance and risk management. Kieran praised the Board of Directors 
for maintaining high standards of corporate governance and strong compliance culture. 
Sandra assured members that their Credit Union is in safe hands.

Report of the Board Oversight Committee

Proposed by M. O Regan / Seconded by S. Comerford

Unanimously passed by the meeting.

There were no questions from members.

9. Appointment of Tellers and Report of the Nomination Committee and Election of 
Auditor, Board Oversight Committee and Board of Directors 

This report was presented by Pat Breslin. Pat advised that;

• One valid nomination was received for the position of Auditor

• One valid nomination was received for the Board Oversight Committee for one 
vacancy

• Four valid nominations were received for the Board of Directors for one four 
vacancies

Auditor Board Oversight  Board of Directors 
 Committee    
PriceWaterhouseCoopers Melwyn Godhino  Liam Doyle
   Paul Duggan
   Paul O Keefe
   Frank Moriarty

• give a true and fair view of the state of the credit union’s affairs as at 30 September
 2020 and of its income and expenditure and cash flows for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice in Ireland (accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council 
of the UK, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” and Irish law); and • have 
been properly prepared so as to conform with the requirements of the Credit Union 
Act 1997, as amended.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which 
comprise:

• the Balance Sheet as at 30 September 2020;

• the Income and Expenditure Account for the year then ended;

• the Statement of Changes in Reserves for the year then ended;

• the Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant 
accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) 
(“ISAs (Ireland)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (Ireland) are further 
described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section 
of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the credit union in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Ireland, which includes IAASA’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements.”

Mr. Mounsell emphasised the fact the financial statements are correctly stated and the 
report is unqualified.
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10. Appointment of Tellers

Noel Cunningham was appointed as teller for the meeting. The Ballot for the Auditor, 
Board Oversight Committee and Board of Directors then took place.

11. Motions and Rule Amendments

Motion 1 - Affiliation Fee That the affiliation fee to the Irish League of Credit Unions (ILCU) 
for the year ended 30th September 2020 will be €1.00 per adult member, to be deducted 
from members’ shares.

Motion 1
Proposed by P. Breslin / Seconded by P. O Keeffe Unanimously passed by the meeting.

There were four amendments to the Standard Rules for Credit Unions (Republic of Ireland) 
arising from the new legislation passed to allow for the holding of Virtual AGMs beyond 
30th April 2021.

Rule Amendment 1
That this Annual General Meeting amends the Standard Rules for Credit Unions (Republic 
of Ireland) by the insertion of a new Rule 1A as follows:

Any reference in these rules to a member present and voting at a general meeting shall 
be construed as including a reference to a member in attendance and voting at a general 
meeting conducted wholly or partly by the use of electronic communications technology.

Rule amendment 1
Proposed by C. Fitzpatrick/ Seconded by E. Kearns Unanimously passed by the meeting.

Rule Amendment 2
That this Annual General Meeting amends Rule 96 of the Standard Rules for Credit Unions 
(Republic of Ireland) in paragraph (1), by the substitution of “at a time, at a place in the 
State (where applicable) and in the manner (where applicable)” for “in the State at such 
date, time and place”,

And by the insertion of a new 96A as follows:

96A (1) The credit union need not hold a general meeting at a physical venue but may 
conduct the meeting wholly or partly by the use of electronic communications technology 
as long as all attendees have a reasonable opportunity to participate in the meeting in 
accordance with this Rule.

(2) (a) The credit union may provide for participation in a general meeting by providing 
or facilitating, for that purpose, the use of electronic communications technology, 
including a mechanism for casting votes by a member, whether before or during the 
meeting.

(b)  The mechanism referred to in paragraph (a) shall not require the member to 
be physically present at the general meeting.

 

(3) The use of electronic communications technology pursuant to paragraph (2) may 
be made subject only to such requirements or restrictions put in place by the credit 
union as are necessary to ensure the identification of attendees and the security of 
the electronic communications technology, to the extent that such requirements or 
restrictions are proportionate to the achievement of those objectives.

(4) The credit union shall inform attendees, before the general meeting concerned, of 
any requirements or restrictions which it has put in place pursuant to paragraph (3).

(5) The credit union that provides for the use of electronic communications technology 
for participation in a general meeting by an attendee shall endeavour to ensure, as 
far as practicable, that—

(a) such technology:

(i) provides for the security of any electronic communications by the attendee,

(ii) minimises the risk of data corruption and unauthorised access, and (iii) 
provides certainty as to the source of the electronic communications.

(b) in the case of any failure or disruption of such technology, that failure or 
disruption is remedied as soon as practicable, and

(c) such technology enables the attendee to:

(i) hear what is said by the chair of the meeting and any person introduced by 
the chair, and

(ii) speak and submit questions and comments during the meeting to the chair 
to the extent that the attendee is entitled to do so under the rules of the 
credit union.

(6) Any temporary failure or disruption of electronic communications technology shall 
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not invalidate the general meeting or any proceedings relating to the meeting.

(7) Unless such failure or disruption is attributable to any willful act of the credit union, 
the credit union shall not be liable in respect of any failure or disruption relating 
to the equipment used by an attendee to access a general meeting by electronic 
communications technology that occurs and which failure or disruption prevents or 
interferes with the attendee’s participation, by the use of such technology, in the 
meeting.

(8) Where, in the opinion of the board of directors, it is deemed necessary, due to 
exceptional and unexpected circumstances, the board of directors may, by 
resolution, cancel a general meeting at any time prior to the holding of the meeting.

Rule amendment 2
Proposed by K. Doolan / Seconded by H. Walsh Unanimously passed by the meeting.

Rule Amendment 3
That this Annual General Meeting amends Rule 98 of the Standard Rules for Credit Unions 
(Republic of Ireland) (a) In paragraph (2):
 
(i) by the substitution of the following paragraph for paragraph (a): “(a) shall state the 

date, time, place (where applicable) and manner of holding (where applicable) of 
the general meeting;”,

(ii) (ii) in paragraph (c), by the substitution of “;” for “; and”,

(iii) (iii) in paragraph (e), by the insertion of “and”,

(iv) by the insertion of the following paragraph after paragraph (e): “(f) shall, in the case 
of a general meeting proposed to be held wholly or partly by the use of electronic 
communications technology, state

(i) the electronic platform to be used for the meeting,

(ii) details for access to the electronic platform,

(iii) where required by a credit union, the time and manner by which an attendee must 
confirm his or her intention to attend the meeting,

(iv) any requirements or restrictions which the credit union has put in place in order to 
identify attendees who intend to attend the meeting,

(iv) the procedure for attendees to communicate questions and comments during the 
meeting, and

(vi) the procedure to be adopted for voting on resolutions proposed to be passed at 
the meeting.”

(b)  In paragraph (4), by the insertion of “and containing such information” after “in 
such form”.

 And by the insertion of a new Rule 98A as follows: 98 A (1) Notwithstanding Rule 
98 but subject to paragraph (2), notice for the purposes of Rule 96A (8) shall be 
given in the same manner as the notice for the general meeting referred to in Rule 
98 but where, in the opinion of the board of directors, giving such notice in that 
manner is not reasonably practicable, notice shall be given

(a) where the credit union has a website, on that website,

(b) by email to every member for whom the credit union has an email address, 
and (c) in at least one national newspaper published in the State and circulating in 
the area in which the registered office of the credit union is situated, in a local 
paper and on local radio. (2) Paragraph (1) shall not apply where all members agree 
in writing to the cancellation, change of venue or change of means of holding the 
general meeting concerned, or to dispensing with notice for the general meeting.”.

Rule amendment 3
Proposed by T. Fell / Seconded by A. Drohan Unanimously passed by the meeting.

Rule Amendment 4
That this Annual General Meeting amends Rule 99(3)(a) of the Standard Rules for Credit 
Unions (Republic of Ireland) by the substitution of “paragraphs (a), (b), (d) (e) of paragraph
(2)” for “paragraphs (a), (b), (d), (e), (f) of paragraph (2)”.
 
Rule amendment 4
Proposed by F. Moriarty/ Seconded by C. Mc Elhinney Unanimously passed by the meeting.

12. Member Questions

In relation to receiving the minutes of the previous AGM and related documentation, a 
member suggested that this information should be sent to members a few days in advance 
of the AGM to allow sufficient time to read the information. The Board of Directors 
welcomed the suggestion and agreed to do this for the next AGM.
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In relation to the report of the Nomination Committee a member suggested that a short 
bio of each candidate be circulate din advance of the meeting. The Board of Directors 
welcomed the suggestion and agreed to do this from now on.

13. Announcement of election results

All of the nominees for the Board of Directors, the Board Oversight Committee and the 
position of Auditor were deemed elected.

14. Adjournment or close of meeting.

That completed the business of the meeting and the Chair thanked the members for their 
attendance, Simon and Russ from AVC for the technical support, Noel Cunningham as 
moderator and declared the meeting closed.

Introducing 
Current Account from 
Waterford Credit Union

Mastercard is a registered trade mark and the circles design is a trademark of Mastercard 
International Incorporated. This card is issued by Transact Payments Limited pursuant to licence  
by Mastercard International. Waterford Credit Union Limited is regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland.

051 861 600
waterfordcu.ie
Drop into your local branch

Find out more

02/21
EXPIRES
END

5167 4700 0000 0000

SINEAD KAVANAGH
WATERFORD CREDIT UNION

  Same Friendly Service
  Easy to Sign Up
  Globally Accepted Debit Card
  Transparent, Low Fees
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Home Improvement Loan


loans@waterfordcu.ie


www.waterfordcu.ie/loans

Waterford Credit Union is regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland. T&C's apply.
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SHOP LOCAL AND
SAVE MONEY

Waterford Credit Union is regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland. T&C's apply on above discounts, visit waterfordcu.ie

Check out waterfordcu.ie for the entire
list of participating local businesses

We have teamed 
up with local 
businesses to 
give YOU 
Exclusive 
Offers and 
Discounts!

Sign up today!



Thursday 24th February 2022
at 7:30pm.

Register to attend virtual AGM at waterfordcu.ie

WATERFORD
CREDIT UNION
VIRTUAL ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING 2021

Parnell Street/Tramore Office
Monday ..................................................10am - 5pm
Tuesday.................................................10am - 4pm
Wednesday ...........................................10am - 5pm
Thursday...............................................10am - 5pm
Friday.....................................................10am - 5pm
Saturday................................................10am - 5pm
Sunday............................................................Closed

Upper Grange
Monday ...........................................................Closed
Tuesday.................................................10am - 4pm
Wednesday ...........................................10am - 5pm
Thursday...............................................10am - 5pm
Friday.....................................................10am - 5pm
Saturday................................................10am - 5pm
Sunday............................................................Closed

OPENING HOURS

Waterford Credit Union Limited is regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland.

Parnell Street, Upper Grange & Tramore
Tel: 051 861 600   |   Connect with us on  ��
www.waterfordcu.ie
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